
 

 
1 
 

 
  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING – AGENDA  
March 4, 2024 at 4:00 p.m. | 100 US Highway 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 

 
 

I. ROLL CALL 
 

II. CALL TO ORDER 
 

III. INVOCATION 
 

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

VI. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
A. City Council Meeting Minutes of February 20, 2024 

 
B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of February 20, 2024 

 
C. New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Modish Nails & Spa at 111 

South Godley Station Boulevard 
 

D. New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Sapporo Japanese Restaurant, 
LLC at 120 Towne Center Boulevard 

 
E. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Coastal Boating Center 

Boat Show on March 22, 2024 
 

F. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Community Car Show 
Benefit for Jeremy Batyias on March 30, 2024 
 

G. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Super Duper Easter Egg 
Hunt on March 23, 2024  
 

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS 
 
A. Ordinance O2024-02.B – Zoning Text Amendment to Appendix A, Articles II 

and III to Provide Provisions Related to Multi-Use Development (Second 
Reading) 
 

B. Proclamation for National Multiple Sclerosis Education and Awareness Month 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Site Plan for a Warehouse Expansion at 125 Coleman Boulevard 

 



  

2 

B. Site Plan for Mana Nutrition at 5212 Old Louisville Road 
 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 



 

 
1 
 

 
  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING – MINUTES 
February 20, 2024 at 4:00 p.m. | 100 US Highway 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 

 
 

I. ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Karen Williams, Mayor  
    Wesley Bashlor, Councilmember 
    Michael Carpenter, Councilmember  
    Aaron Higgins, Mayor Pro Tem 
    Tom Hutcherson, Councilmember  
    Shannon Valim, Councilmember    
    John Wilcher, Councilmember via teleconference 
    Matthew Saxon, Assistant City Manager 
    Craig Call, City Attorney     
    Chris Lightle, Finance Officer    
    Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    
 
Absent:   
 

II. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Karen Williams called the meeting to order at 4:01 p.m.  
 

III. INVOCATION 
 
Executive Pastor Shirlinia Daniel gave the invocation. 
 

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Executive Pastor Shirlinia Daniel led the pledge. 
 

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Scot Turner, Eternal Vigilance Action, Inc. Executive Director, presented on 
ranked choice voting (RCV), also known as instant-runoff voting. 

 
VI. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
A. City Council Meeting Minutes of February 5, 2024 

 
B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of February 5, 2024 

 
C. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Love & Soul 

Family Festival on June 1, 2024 
 



  

2 

D. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the 5K Friendship 
Fun Run on July 27, 2024  
 

E. Department Reports 
 
1. Public Works 
2. Finance 
3. Fire-Rescue Services 
4. Police  
5. Parks & Recreation 
6. Planning & Development 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the Consent Agenda for 
consideration. Councilmember Tom Hutcherson moved to approve the 
Consent Agenda.  
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Hutcherson 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: 
 

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS 
 
A. Ordinance O2024-02.A – Council Meeting Start Time (Second Reading) 

 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the second reading for consideration. 
Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved to approve the second reading of 
Ordinance O2024-02.A – Council Meeting Start Time. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (5-1-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim  
NAYS: Wilcher 
 

B. Ordinance O2024-02.B – Zoning Text Amendment to Appendix A, 
Articles II and III to Provide Provisions Related to Multi-Use 
Development (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the first reading for consideration and 
Planning & Development Director Nicole Dixon reported on the proposed 
amendment. Mayor Karen Williams opened and closed the public hearing 
without comment. Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved to approve the first 
reading of Ordinance O2024-02.B – Zoning Text Amendment to Appendix A, 
Articles II and III to Provide Provisions Related to Multi-Use Development. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: 
 

C. Resolution R2024-02.A – Amendment to the 2024 Schedule of Fees 
 



  

3 

City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the resolution for consideration and 
Finance Officer Chris Lightle reported on the proposed amendment. 
Councilmember Tom Hutcherson moved to approve Resolution R2024-02.A – 
Amendment to the 2024 Schedule of Fees.  
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Zoning Map Amendment for Property on Clear Lake Way from C-2 to R-

3 (Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the amendment for consideration. 
Attorney Harold Yellin was present on behalf of the petitioner. Mayor Karen 
Williams opened the public hearing. Citizen Beverly Waters inquired as to the 
location, citizen Pat Bench expressed concerns regarding traffic, and citizen 
Preston Carpenter inquired about sidewalks. Mayor Karen Williams closed the 
public hearing and Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins, upon review of the criteria, 
moved to approve the Zoning Map Amendment for Property on Clear Lake 
Way from C-2 to R-3. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Valim 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:  
 

B. Zoning Map Amendment for the Warnell Tract at Demott Drive from 
PUD to I-2 (Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the amendment for consideration. 
Attorney Robert McCorkle was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer 
questions. Mayor Karen Williams opened and closed the public hearing 
without comment. Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins, upon review of the criteria, 
moved to approve the Zoning Map Amendment for the Warnell Tract at 
Demott Drive from PUD to I-2 subject to the following conditions: that 
permitted uses be limited to Items 42 (Wholesale Trade, Scrap Yards), 493 
(Warehousing and Storage, Container Storage Yard), 484 (Truck 
Transportation) and all uses allowed by right in I-1.  
 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (5-1-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Valim 
AYES: Bashlor, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: Carpenter 
 

C. Conditional Use Request for a Place of Worship at 1324 South Rogers 
Street (Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the request for consideration. The 
petitioner was not present. Mayor Karen Williams opened the public hearing.  



  

4 

 
 
 
Citizens Ron Tyran, Jim Gerard (representing Donny Tuten and Lisa 
Robinson), Sarah Howard, Nora White, Tricia Brown, Patsy Baker, and 
Rambhai Patel spoke against the request. Mayor Karen Williams closed the 
public hearing, and Councilmember Michael Carpenter, upon review of the 
criteria, moved to deny the Conditional Use Request for a Place of Worship at 
1324 South Rogers Street. 
 
Motion to Deny; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Carpenter 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:  
 

D. Conditional Use Request for a Warehouse Expansion at 125 Coleman 
Boulevard (Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the request for consideration. Lauren 
Davenport was present on behalf of the petitioner. Mayor Karen Williams 
opened the public hearing. Citizen Tricia Brown expressed her concerns. 
Mayor Karen Williams closed the public hearing, and Mayor Pro Tem Aaron 
Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to approve the Conditional Use 
Request for a Warehouse Expansion at 125 Coleman Boulevard. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (5-1-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Bashlor 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: Hutcherson 
 

E. Conditional Use Request for an Auto Body Repair at 800 Clear Lake 
Way (Public Hearing, Action) 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the request for consideration. Bret 
Flory was present on behalf of the petitioner. Mayor Karen Williams opened 
the public hearing. Citizens Michael Maher and Hal Lynch spoke against the 
item. Citizen Christian Carpenter inquired as to the number of jobs created. 
Mayor Karen Williams closed the public hearing, and Councilmember Michael 
Carpenter, upon review of the criteria, moved to deny the Conditional Use 
Request for an Auto Body Repair at 800 Clear Lake Way. 
 
Motion to Deny; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Carpenter 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:  
 

F. Site Plan for 212 East Highway 80 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the site plan for consideration. Dr. 
Toni Sylvester, petitioner, was present. Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins, upon 
review of the criteria, moved to approve the Site Plan for 212 East Highway 
80. 



  

5 

 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Carpenter 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS: 
 

G. Site Plan for Wawa at 1480 Pooler Parkway 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the site plan for consideration. David 
Smith, Sergio Martinez, and Brent Davis were present on behalf of the 
petitioner; C.J. Chance was present on behalf of the Master Developer. 
Citizens Michael Maher, Tricia Brown, Stacey Knofczynski, Barbara Sherrand, 
Hal Lynch, Christian Carpenter, and Greg Knofczynski spoke against the item. 
Shirlinia Daniel, Planning & Zoning Commissioner, spoke in favor of the item. 
Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved to postpone action on the Site Plan for 
Wawa at 1480 Pooler Parkway for six (6) months.  
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (4-1-1) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wilcher 
NAYS: Bashlor 
ABSTENTIONS: Valim 
 
Councilmember Wesley Bashlor then moved to reconsider the prior motion to 
postpone action on the Site Plan for Wawa at 1480 Pooler Parkway for six (6) 
months.  
 
Motion to Reconsider; PASSED (4-3-0) 
MOVER: Bashlor 
SECONDER: Valim 
AYES: Bashlor, Valim, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS: Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson 
 
Councilmember Wesley Bashlor, upon review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Site Plan for Wawa at 1480 Pooler Parkway. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (4-3-0) 
MOVER: Bashlor 
SECONDER: Valim 
AYES: Bashlor, Valim, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS: Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson 
 

H. Site Plan for 780 Pooler Parkway 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the site plan for consideration. Alec 
Metzger was present on behalf of the petitioner. Mayor Pro Tem Aaron 
Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to deny the Site Plan for 780 
Pooler Parkway based upon concerns regarding loading access, trash, and 
lighting in the floodway.  
 
Motion to Deny; PASSED (5-1-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 



  

6 

AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim 
NAYS: Wilcher 
 

I. Site Plan for TTRES at 2300 Pooler Parkway 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the site plan for consideration. Austin 
Mann and Rusty Windsor were present on behalf of the petitioner. Citizen 
John Hayden spoke against the item. Councilmember Shannon Valim, upon 
review of the criteria, moved to approve the Site Plan for TTRES at 2300 
Pooler Parkway. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (4-3-0) 
MOVER: Valim 
SECONDER: Bashlor 
AYES: Bashlor, Valim, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS: Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson 
 

J. Westside Commerce Center/Native Development Group Request for 
Consideration 
 
City Manager Matthew Saxon presented the request for consideration. C.J. 
Chance was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. Mayor 
Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved to postpone action on the item until such time 
that the City Attorney is able to confer with the petitioner/parties involved to 
generate a resolution.  
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:  
 

K. Disciplinary Hearing for Owner of Asian River/Miyah Buffet 
 
Mayor Karen Williams reported that the item had been withdrawn. No action 
was taken. 
 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
 

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
With no further public business to conduct, Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved 
to enter Executive Session. Mayor and Council entered at 7:45 p.m. 
 
Motion to Enter; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Bashlor 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:   
 
Mayor Karen Williams called the meeting back to order at 8:20 p.m. 
 



  

7 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Aaron Higgins moved to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (6-0-0) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Bashlor, Carpenter, Higgins, Hutcherson, Valim, Wilcher 
NAYS:   
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 
 
The foregoing minutes are true and correct and are approved on this  
 
________ day of ________________, ________. 
 
 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Karen L. Williams, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 















































































1 

   STATE OF GEORGIA } 

) 

   COUNTY OF CHATHAM } 

ORDINANCE O2024-02.B

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES APPENDIX 

A – ZONING, ARTICLE II – DEFINITIONS AND ARTICLE III – GENERAL PROVISIONS 

BY ADDING SECTION 32 – MULTI-USE DEVELOPMENT AND AMENDING TABLE 4.1 – 

ALLOWED USES BY ZONING DISTRICT TO PROVIDE PROVISIONS RELATED TO 

MULTI-USE DEVELOPMENT; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

I 

That APPENDIX A – ZONING, Article II. DEFINITIONS be amended by adding the following 

language: 

Multi-use development.  A development site consisting of multiple detached buildings 

with differing land uses including both residential and non-residential components. 

Mixed-use development.  A development site consisting of one or more multi-story 

buildings that include both residential and non-residential principal uses.  Mixed-use 

development typically has non-residential uses on the first floor with upper story residential 

uses.  

II 

That APPENDIX A – ZONING, Article III. GENERAL PROVISIONS be amended by adding the 

following: 

Section 32. – Multi-use development. 

(A) Applicability.

(1) The provisions of this section shall apply to any new multi-use development as

defined in this ordinance.

(2) Any new multi-use development shall only be allowed as part of an approved

site plan.

(3) Any multi-use development existing prior to the adoption of this ordinance shall

be allowed to continue to exist without express compliance with these

requirements.  Any redevelopment, alteration, expansion, or extension of at

least 50 percent of an existing multi-use development shall be required to

comply with these requirements.



  

2 

(B) Definitions.  

(1) Non-residential component.  The minimum required non-residential use portion 

related to a multi-use development. 

(2) Open space set-aside.  Portion of the site that is not occupied by buildings, 

structures, impermeable areas, or driveways, which are intended for the use 

and enjoyment of the development’s residents, employees, and users and is at 

least 500 sq feet in size and consisting of primarily pervious or semi-pervious 

surfaces.  Open space set-aside is meant to serve as an amenity and includes 

features such as: 

a. Natural features, such as groupings of trees and areas of preserved 

vegetation;  

b. Recreation areas, such as gazebo and picnic areas, playgrounds or 

courts, parks, or other like features;  

c. Any vegetation, tree plantings, or landscape areas not part of parking 

lots or other hardscapes (unless part of another identified open space 

set-aside); or,  

d. Squares, forecourts, or plazas, which are framed and oriented by 

buildings or streets to provide gathering spaces that are not ancillary or 

allocated to a residential or non-residential use component, i.e., outdoor 

dining area or hang-out pad, unless accessible to all users of the site. 

(3) Phasing plan.  A general development plan that identifies the sequence or 

phases in which the development is proposed to be accomplished, including the 

timing of construction of residential and non-residential components, along with 

all infrastructure, open space, amenities, or other proposed features associated 

with such. 

(4) Residential component.  The minimum required residential use portion related 

to a multi-use development.  The residential component shall include 

apartments, condominiums, or townhouses. 

(C) General Requirements.  Where permitted, any multi-use development shall comply 

with the following requirements: 

(1) A minimum size requirement of at least 5 acres and a maximum size 

requirement of no more than 50 acres. 

(2) At least 15 percent of the development shall be designated as open space set-

aside as defined in this section. Open space set-aside shall be parceled out and 

labeled as open space on the plat. 

(3) A phasing plan shall be submitted as part of any application for the 

development.  A Certificate of Occupancy for at least one non-residential 

building shall be required prior to or simultaneously with the issuance of any 

Certificate of Occupancy for a residential building.   

(4) A minimum of three distinct use categories shall be required for the 

development, with at least one comprising the residential component and two 

comprising the non-residential component.  Staff shall review and determine if 



  

3 

the proposed uses within each component are satisfied during a pre-application 

meeting, prior to site plan submittal. 

(5) No use component shall exceed 75 percent of the uses by acreage within the 

development. 

(6) No use category, except for residential, shall exceed 65 percent of the total 

acreage of the site. 

(7) Each use category shall comprise at least 10 percent of the gross floor area of 

all uses. 

(8) Any use proposed for inclusion within the development shall comply with all use 

permissions and use requirements related to such use for the zoning district. 

(9) The development may receive a reduction in the minimum number of required 

parking spaces by submitting a parking demand study demonstrating that there 

is reasonable probability the number of parking spaces needed to serve the 

development is less than what would otherwise be required because of the 

location, nature, and mixture of uses.  An alternative parking or shared parking 

plan shall be provided with the parking demand study. 

(10) The land comprising the site shall not be subdivided into separate, individual 

parcels, except through a horizontal property regime, condominium, land or 

ground lease, HOA or POA, or other similar property framework. 

(D) Violations.  Any violation of the requirements of this section shall be subject to the 

provisions set forth within Article V, Section 12 of Appendix A, along with any and all 

applicable enforcement procedures, including Section 1-12 of the City of Pooler Code 

of Ordinances. 

III 

That APPENDIX A, ARTICLE IV. ZONING DISTRICTS, Table 4.1 Allowed Uses by Zoning District 

be amended to include “Multi-Use Development” as a conditional use in the C-1, Light 

Commercial, C-2, Heavy Commercial, C-P, Commercial Professional, I-1, Light Industrial, and 

I-2, Heavy Industrial, districts: 



  

4 

 

 

IV 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the ordinance are hereby repealed. 

V 

If any section, clause, or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, the said holding shall in no way affect the validity of the 

remaining portions of this ordinance. 

VI 

This ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the Mayor and City 

Council of Pooler, Georgia. 

 

FIRST READING:  _______ day of _____________________, __________ 

 

SECOND READING: _______ day of _____________________, __________ 

 

ADOPTED:   _______ day of _____________________, __________ 

 

 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 
 

 

__________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 
 

__________________________________ 

Clerk of Council 

 



 

PROCLAMATION

Karen L. Williams, Mayor

Kiley Fusco, Clerk of  Council

ATTEST:

National Multiple Sclerosis 
Education and Awareness Month

WHEREAS, 

 
WHEREAS, 

 

WHEREAS, 
 
 

WHEREAS, 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE,

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF

National Multiple Sclerosis Education and Awareness Month, observed 
each March, provides a crucial opportunity to raise public awareness 
of MS, celebrate the resilience of those living with the disease, and 
encourage support for ongoing research efforts; and  

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, often-debilitating disease of the 
central nervous system affecting nearly one million people in the United 
States and greater than 350 individuals in the Savannah-Chatham 
County area; and 
 
Every hour, someone new receives an MS diagnosis, highlighting the 
ongoing need for research, support, and understanding; and

Focusing on increased awareness helps ensure that families affected by 
this unpredictable disease receive support from the National MS Society 
and from their communuities;

We, the Mayor and Council, do hereby proclaim March 2024 as National 
Multiple Sclerosis Education and Awareness Month in the City of Pooler. 
We encourage citizens to wear orange the week of March 10-16, to 
learn more about MS, to show compassion and support for those 
affected by the disease, and to join the ongoing fight for a cure.

I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City of Pooler 
to be affixed this 4th day of March, 2024.



1 

PLANNING & ZONING STAFF REPORT 
Site Plan for 125 Coleman Blvd 

Project: #231340 

P&Z Meeting Date: February 12, 2024 

City Council Meeting Date: March 4, 2024

Applicant and Authorized Agent: Lauren Davenport (Thomas & Hutton) 

Location (Address): 125 Coleman Blvd 

Parcel (PIN): 50985 04075 

Acreage: 7.21 total – 3.25 disturbed 

Zoning: I-1 (Light Industrial)

Proposed Use: Warehouse expansion 

Staff Recommendation: Approval subject to $19,950 being paid into the City Tree Fund 

• The following items are needed for scheduling a pre-

construction meeting: City of Savannah ROW Permit.

Planning & Zoning Commission: P&Z agreed with staff and recommends approval, subject to $19,950 

being paid into the tree fund and the City of Savannah ROW permit 

being obtained prior to scheduling the pre-construction meeting. 

Recommended Motion: “After review of the criteria, move for approval of the request 

subject to $19,950 being paid into the City Tree Fund and the City 

of Savannah ROW permit being obtain prior to scheduling the pre-

construction meeting.” 

Zoning Action Standards: 1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive

Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans.



  

2 

o The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and 

policies of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan for the FLUM 

designation and Character Area. 

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and 

traffic access. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions for access and 

circulation; Sec. 11 of App. A, Art. V related to traffic 

impacts; and Sec. 2 of App. A, Art. III for traffic access. 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-

street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5 of 

App. A, Art. III for parking and loading standards. 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 

arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 

signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 

district(s). 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to 

development standards for industrial development, 

including setbacks, building separation, and height and 

Chapter 74, Art. VI for lighting. 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 

proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 

properties. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to the 

location of uses/development areas, development 

standards for industrial development, and buffer 

standards. 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 

water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure. 

o The site plan complies with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; 

Chapter 74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to 

servicing of utilities and infrastructure. 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by other public serves to account for current or projected 

needs. 

o The site is adequately served by any other public services 

for current or projected needs. 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 

adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 

other objectionable features. 



  

3 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to 

buffer and screening standards. 

9. Whether the site plan provides adequate landscaping, 

including type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 

landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 

buffer between adjacent properties. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of Chapter 42, 

Art. VI for tree and landscaping requirements, in general, 

and related buffers. 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 

City of Pooler. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of the City of 

Pooler Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, 

and all other applicable laws. 

   

Conclusion:  The site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria.  As such, staff 

recommends Approval of the request. 

   

Attachments:  A. Vicinity Map 

B. Application and Submittal Documentation 

C. Approval Letter 

   

 



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

Project #231340 - 
125 Coleman Blvd

02/07/2024

 Parcels

ATTACHMENT A





© 2023 Microsoft Corporation © 2023 TomTom 

REVISION HISTORY

SUBMITTAL HISTORY

J-
27

94
0.

00
01

1-
25

-2
4

12
5 

C
O

LE
M

A
N

 B
LV

D
. B

UI
LD

IN
G

 E
XP

A
N

SI
O

N
 

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

R

SITE DEVELOPMENT PLANS
OF

125 COLEMAN BLVD. BUILDING EXPANSION
 

POOLER, GEORGIA
 

PREPARED FOR:
STEPHEN GREEN PROPERTIES

111 BARNARD STREET, SUITE 301
P.O. BOX 10143

SAVANNAH, GA 31401
 
 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2023
REVISED: 1-25-24

TM#  5-0985-04-075

J-27940.0001

VICINITY MAP
SCALE: 1" = 2000'

PREPARED BY:

50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405

 p.912.234.5300
www.thomasandhutton.com

Sheet List Table
Sheet Number Sheet Title

C0 COVER SHEET

G0.1 GENERAL NOTES AND INDEX

EX1.1 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN

EC0.1 EROSION CONTROL NOTES

EC0.2 EROSION CONTROL NOTES

EC0.3 EROSION CONTROL NOTES

EC1.1 EROSION CONTROL - INITIAL

EC2.1 EROSION CONTROL - INTERMEDIATE

EC3.1 EROSION CONTROL - FINAL

EC4.1 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

EC4.2 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

C1.1 SITE LAYOUT PLAN

C2.1 PAVING, GRADING, AND DRAINAGE

C2.3 SITE DETAILS

C2.4 SITE DETAILS

L1.1 TREE PERMIT PLAN

L1.2 PlANTING DETAILS AND NOTES

L1.3 LANDSCAPING SPECIFICATIONS

12/12/2023

9/12/2026

PERMIT SET - FOR REVIEW PURPOSES ONLY

ATTACHMENT B



N/F
JCB INC.

PIN: 5-0985-04-042
1008 E U.S. HWY. 80

ZONING: I-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

N/F
JCB INC.

PIN: 5-0985-04-042
1008 E U.S. HWY. 80

ZONING: I-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

EXISTING WAREHOUSE
101,100 SF
FFE: 20.3

EXISTING DRAINAGE CANAL
BOTTOM: 11.00'

TOP:17.00'
3:1 SIDE SLOPES (TYP.)

C
O

LE
M

A
N

 B
O

UL
EV

A
RD

10
0'

 C
ITY

 O
F 

SA
V

A
N

N
A

H 
R/

W

N/F
112 COLEMAN BOULEVARD, LLC.

PIN: 5-0985-04-018
112 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

ZONING: I-H HEAVY INDUSTRIAL

N/F
VHC, INC.

PIN: 2-0985-04-017
118 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

ZONING: I-H HEAVY INDUSTRIAL

EXISTING ADJACENT DRIVEWAY

N/F
125 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

LLC
PIN: 5-0985-04-075

125 COLEMAN BOULEVARD
ZONING: I-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

12/12/2023



N/F
JCB INC.

PIN: 5-0985-04-042
1008 E U.S. HWY. 80

N/F
125 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

LLC
PIN: 5-0985-04-075

125 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

EXISTING WAREHOUSE
101,100 SF
FFE: 20.3

C
O

LE
M

A
N

 B
O

UL
EV

A
RD

10
0'

 C
ITY

 O
F 

SA
V

A
N

N
A

H 
R/

W

N/F
112 COLEMAN BOULEVARD, LLC.

PIN: 5-0985-04-018
112 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

N/F
VHC, INC.

PIN: 2-0985-04-017
118 COLEMAN BOULEVARD

BUILDING EXPANSION
39,941 SF
FFE: 20.3

50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

12/12/2023



PAVEMENT LEGEND

CONCRETE PAVEMENT - 7" CONCRETE
PAVEMENT / 12" CEMENT STABILIZED SUBGRADE

*SEE C2.2 - SITE DETAILS FOR PAVEMENT SECTIONS
**PAVEMENT SECTION PER TERRACON GEOTECHNICAL
REPORT DATED APRIL 2, 2020
***REINFORCED PER TERRACON RECOMMENDATION
DATED SEPTEMBER 5, 2023

CONCRETE PAVEMENT REINFORCED
- 7" CONCRETE PAVEMENT /  4" GAB /
12" CEMENT STABILIZED SUBGRADE

EXISTING WAREHOUSE
101,100 SF
FFE: 20.3

BUILDING EXPANSION
39,941 SF
FFE: 20.3

50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

12/12/2023



50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

10/9/1701/25/24

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

ndixon
Highlight

ndixon_1
Highlight

ndixon_2
Rectangle



50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

 

 

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

10/9/1712/12/23



50 Park of Commerce Way
 Savannah, GA  31405  •  912.234.5300

www.thomasandhutton.com

LANDSCAPING

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 DESCRIPTION

A. The work covered in this section consists of soil preparation, fine grading, lawns, trees, shrubs and ground cover plantings, their
protection and maintenance of planted areas until acceptance.

1.2 RELATED WORK

A. See Civil and Landscape plans and specifications.

1.3 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Qualifications of Workmen:  Contractor shall provide at least one person present at all times during execution of work that is
thoroughly familiar with the type of materials being installed and proper equipment and methods for their installation and who shall
direct all work performed under this section.

B. Standards:  All seed, sod, trees, shrubs, and ground covers shall meet or exceed the specifications of Federal, State, County and /
or Municipality laws requiring inspection for disease and insect control.

1. Plants and planting methods shall conform to the latest edition of American Standard for Nursery Stock, American Nursery &
Landscape Association, 1000 Vermont Avenue, NW, Suite 300, Washington, DC 20005

2. Plants shall be true and representative of their genus, species, cultivar, or variety.  Nursery stock shipped in accordance with
the required specifications shall be deemed to be acceptable within the terms of this section if it is typical in size and habit for
the species in the region of the country in which it is grown unless the specifications include additional details.

3. Prior to ordering any plant material, representative photos of each species shall be provided for review and
acceptance.

4. One of each bundle or lot shall be tagged with name and size of the plant in accordance with American Nursery &
Landscape Association standards.  In all cases, botanical names shall take precedence over common names.  Landscape
Architect should be consulted in the event questions arise about nomenclature of plants to be used and their availability.

1.4 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

A. Deliver grass seed in original containers showing analysis of seed mixture, percentage of pure seed, year of production, net weight,
date of packaging and location of packaging.  Damaged packages are not acceptable.

B. Deliver fertilizer in waterproof bags showing weight, chemical analysis, and name of manufacturer.

C. Deliver sod on pallets.

D. Handling of plants shall be by lifting the root mass or container and not by lifting plant by trunk or branches.  Handling of plants in
an improper fashion shall be cause for rejection of plant materials.  Care must be taken during all phases of the location and
planting procedures not to damage root system, trunk or branches.  All plant materials shall be planted as soon after arrival at the
site as possible.  Contractor is responsible for keeping plants safe from injury by the construction activity and watered to prevent
drying out before planting.  Balled and burlapped plants shall be "Healed-in" and protected with burlap or other accepted
material if they cannot be planted upon delivery.  Plants with broken major branches, badly bruised or damaged bark are not
acceptable and will be rejected.

1.5 PLANTING DATES

A. The planting season for trees, shrubs and groundcovers is between October 1st and June 1st of the following year. Do not plant if
temperature is below freezing or above 90 degrees. Planting at any other time other than the planting season is the Contractor's
option and full responsibility and without additional compensation. Planting may, at the option of the Contractor, be postponed
into the following planting season but without additional compensation provided the Owner and local governing jurisdiction have
approved.

C. Planting dates for sod, sprigging or seeding shall be per the grassing specification.

1.6 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

A. Measurement - The items listed in the proposal shall be considered as sufficient to complete the work in accordance with the plans
and specifications.  Any portion of the work not listed in bid form, but required to complete the work, shall be deemed to be a part
of the item with which it is associated and shall be included in the cost of the unit shown on the bid form.

B. Payment - Payment for the unit shown on the bid form shall be considered to cover the cost of all labor, material, equipment, and
performing all operations necessary to complete the work in place.  No payment will be made for any material wasted, used for
the convenience of the Contractor, unused or rejected.

1. Trees, Shrubs, and Groundcovers - Will be paid for at the contract unit price for planted/installed and accepted trees, shrubs,
and groundcovers.

2. Payment for grassing will be made per the grassing specification.

3. Clearing - Will be paid for at the lump sum price for clearing.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.1 MATERIALS

A. Contractor shall, at time of delivery, furnish Owner and / or Landscape Architect with invoices of all materials received; in order the
quality and source of materials may be reviewed.

2.2 TOPSOIL

A. TOPSOIL SHALL BE FERTILE, FRIABLE SOIL CONTAINING LESS THAN 5% TOTAL VOLUME OF THE COMBINATION OF SUBSOIL, REFUSE,
ROOTS LARGER THAN 1 INCH DIAMETER, HEAVY, STICKY OR STIFF CLAY, STONES LARGER THAN 2 INCHES IN DIAMETER, NOXIOUS
SEEDS, STICKS, BRUSH, LITTER, OR ANY SUBSTANCES DELETERIOUS TO PLANT GROWTH. THE PERCENT (%) OF THE ABOVE OBJECTS SHALL
BE CONTROLLED BY SOURCE SELECTION NOT BY SCREENING THE SOIL. TOPSOIL SHALL BE SUITABLE FOR THE GERMINATION OF SEEDS
AND THE SUPPORT OF VEGETATIVE GROWTH. IMPORTED TOPSOIL SHALL NOT CONTAIN WEED SEEDS IN QUANTITIES THAT CAUSE
NOTICEABLE WEED INFESTATIONS IN THE FINAL PLANTING BEDS. IMPORTED TOPSOIL SHALL MEET THE FOLLOWING PHYSICAL AND
CHEMICAL CRITERIA:

1. SOIL TEXTURE: USDA LOAM, SANDY CLAY LOAM OR SANDY LOAM WITH CLAY CONTENT BETWEEN 15 AND 25%. AND A
COMBINED CLAY/SILT CONTENT OF NO MORE THAN 55%.

2. PH VALUE SHALL BE BETWEEN 5.5 AND 7.0.
3. PERCENT ORGANIC MATTER (OM): 2.0-5.0%, BY DRY WEIGHT.
4. SOLUBLE SALT LEVEL: LESS THAN 2 MMHO/CM.
5. SOIL CHEMISTRY SUITABLE FOR GROWING THE PLANTS SPECIFIED.

B. IMPORTED TOPSOIL SHALL BE A HARVESTED SOIL FROM FIELDS OR DEVELOPMENT SITES. THE ORGANIC CONTENT AND PARTICLE SIZE
DISTRIBUTION SHALL BE THE RESULT OF NATURAL SOIL FORMATION. MANUFACTURED SOILS WHERE COARSE SAND, COMPOSTED
ORGANIC MATERIAL OR CHEMICAL ADDITIVES HAS BEEN ADDED TO THE SOIL TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SPECIFICATION
SECTION SHALL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE. RETAINED SOIL PEDS SHALL BE THE SAME COLOR ON THE INSIDE AS IS VISIBLE ON THE OUTSIDE.

C. IMPORTED TOPSOIL FOR PLANTING SOIL SHALL NOT HAVE BEEN SCREENED AND SHALL RETAIN SOIL PEDS OR CLODS LARGER THAN 2
INCHES IN DIAMETER THROUGHOUT THE STOCKPILE AFTER HARVESTING.

D. STOCKPILED EXISTING TOPSOIL AT THE SITE MEETING THE ABOVE CRITERIA MAY BE ACCEPTABLE.

E. PROVIDE A ONE GALLON SAMPLE FROM EACH IMPORTED TOPSOIL SOURCE(S) WITH REQUIRED SOIL TESTING RESULTS OF ALL EXISTING
TOPSOIL TO BE USED. THE SAMPLE SHALL BE A MIXTURE OF THE RANDOM SAMPLES TAKEN AROUND THE SOURCE STOCKPILE OR FIELD.

2.3 SEED
A. See grassing specification.

2.4 SPRIG
A. See grassing specification.

2.5 SOD
A. See grassing specification.

2.6 PLANT MATERIALS

A. Provide all plant materials as indicated on the plans. In the event of any discrepancies between quantities of plants indicated on
the plant schedule and those indicated on the plan, plan quantities shall govern.

B. Plants shall be sound, healthy and vigorous, well branched and densely foliated when in leaf.  They shall be free of disease, insect
pests, eggs or larvae, and shall have healthy, well developed root systems.  Plants shall be from a nursery within 300 miles north or
south of the project location and shall have been grown under climate conditions similar to those in the locality of project.  Trees
for planting in rows shall be uniform in size and shape.

B. Plants shall possess a normal balance between height and width.  Plants shall be measured when branches are in their normal
position.  Height and spread dimensions specified refer to the main body of plant and not from branch tip to tip.  Plants larger in
size than specified may be used with no change in contract price.

C. Plants shall be dug with firm natural balls of earth, of diameter not less than recommended by American Standard for Nursery Stock
and of sufficient depth to include fibrous and feeding roots.  Plants will not be accepted if ball is cracked or broken before or
during planting operations.

D. Trees specified for Street Tree Grade shall conform to standards of the A.N.L.A.:

1. Suitable for planting as street trees.

2. Free of branches to approximately 50% of height from ground.

3. Crown of tree shall be in good balance with the trunk.

2.7 FERTILIZER

A. Commercial fertilizer shall be slow release 5-10-10 or 6-12-12 (or as recommended by soil test), uniform in composition, free flowing,
and suitable for application with appropriate equipment.  Deliver to site unopened in manufacturer's standard containers showing
weight, analysis and name of manufacturer.  If stored on site, protect from the elements.

2.8 PEAT MOSS

A. Peat moss shall be finely shredded, 90% organic moss peat, brown in color and suitable for horticultural purposes.  Peat shall be
measured in air dry condition, containing not more than 35% moisture by weight.  Ash content shall not exceed 10%.

2.9 MULCH FOR TREES, SHRUBS, AND GROUND COVERS

A. Mulch for non bio-retention areas shall be as shown on plans.

B. Mulch for bio-retention areas shall be shredded hardwood.

2.10 STAKING EQUIPMENT

A. Trees and palms shall be staked as shown in landscape plans.

2.11 WATER

A. Contractor shall provide water to the project during the warranty and establishment period.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 FINE GRADING

A. All areas within limits of construction shall be fine graded to the desired grades.  All areas within limits of construction are to be fine
graded, free of roots, debris and/or other objectionable material, before planting or grassing commence.  Any additional fill
material needed to fill low or uneven areas shall be provided by the Contractor.  Positive drainage away from structures shall be
provided in all plant beds so standing water does not occur. Planting beds shall be raised above adjacent lawn areas to provide
good drainage conditions.

B. Planting and grassed areas, if not loose, shall be loosened to a minimum depth of 3-inches before fertilizer, seed or sod is applied.

3.2 FERTILIZER AND SOIL AMENDMENTS

A. Contractor shall provide Topsoil Analysis Tests that has been performed by a State Agricultural Experiment Station, Soil
and Water Conservation District, State University, or other qualified private testing laboratory, as approved by
Landscape Architect.

B. Apply fertilizer  and soil amendments after fine grading and mix thoroughly into upper 2 inches of soil.

C. Fertilizer and other necessary soil amendments shall be applied at the rate recommended by Topsoil Analysis Test.

3.3 SODDING

A. See grassing specification.

3.4 SPRIGGING

A. See grassing specification.

3.5 SEEDING

A. See grassing specification.

3.6 SEED PROTECTION

A. See grassing specification.

3.7 LAYOUT OF TREES, SHRUBS, AND GROUND COVERS

A. All plants shall be placed in the proper location as shown on construction plans, allowing Landscape Architect to review all plant
locations prior to actual planting.  Landscape Architect may make minor adjustments which shall not be cause for changes to the
contract price.

3.8 OBSTRUCTIONS BELOW GROUND

A. Prior to excavating planting holes, Contractor shall determine the exact location of electrical, phone, or television cables or
conduits, water, drainage or sewer lines, and any other subsurface structures and take precautions to protect them.  Any damage
to underground utilities shall be repaired immediately at the Contractor's expense.

B. In the event rock, underground construction work, or other obstructions are encountered in any plant hole excavation under this
contract, alternate locations may be selected. Where locations cannot be changed, the obstructions shall be removed to a depth
of not less than three (3) feet below grade and not less than six (6) inches below bottom of ball or roots when plant is properly set
at the required grade. The Contractor shall be responsible for the removal of such rock or other underground obstructions
encountered.

3.9 PLANTING HOLES

A. For trees, shrubs and ground covers the planting hole shall be as shown on planting details in the plans. Do not leave planting holes
open overnight.  In the event that plant holes are dug and not planted in a timely manner, install four (4) foot high orange safety
fencing around all excavated areas.

3.10 PLANTING TREES AND SHRUBS

A. Shall be same as grown in the nursery and/or container soil level.  Adjust bottom soil mix to insure proper planting level with the
proposed surrounding grades.  Check plants to insure proper vertical alignment.

B. Fill holes to proper height to receive plant, and thoroughly tamp before setting the plant.  Set plant in upright position in the center
of the hole, and compact the backfill mixture around the ball or roots.  Add soil amendments as required to improve fertility of
existing soil and plant growing conditions.

1. When balled or burlapped plants are set, compact topsoil around base of ball to fill all voids.  All bindings shall be removed
and the top half of burlap removed from around root ball.  If burlap is made of natural fibers it can be laid back from the root
mass or can be cut away.  Remove all burlap if it is made of non-degradable material/fabric.  All weeds growing on the root
mass shall be removed prior to planting.

2. Containerized plants shall have the container removed prior to planting.  Care shall be taken to protect root mass from injury
and the root mass intact. If root mass shows evidence of being bound or matted, three vertical 1/2" deep cuts shall be made
on alternate sides of the root mass and roots pulled away slightly.  This is to untangle roots which have begun to "circle" the
root mass and to encourage new root growth.  All weeds growing in the root mass shall be removed prior to planting.

3. Roots of bare root plants shall be spread out and topsoil carefully worked in among them. Remove with a clean cut, any
broken or frayed roots.

3.11 PLANTING GROUND COVERS

A. Planting beds shall be thoroughly worked to a depth of twelve (12) inches incorporating fertilizer and other soil improvements at the
recommended rate suggest by the soils test. Rake prepared planting bed until level, smooth and free from all soil, lumps, rocks,
sticks and other deleterious materials. Bed area should be neatly outlined. Space the plants evenly as indicated on the drawings.
Plant only in soil that is moist and friable, and not wet or soggy. In the case of planting in the open on hot days, shorten the time
between planting and watering.

3.12 WATERING

A. Thoroughly water each plant when the hole is 1/3 full, again at 2/3 full and then complete backfilling. Once backfilling is complete,
water again, then tamp the soil in place until the surface of the backfill is level with the surrounding area and the plant bears the
same relation of finished grade as it bore to existing grade before being dug.

B. Earth saucers shall be constructed around the perimeter of planting holes of all trees and all single planted shrubs.  Earth saucers
shall be minimum 3" high and compacted to retain water.  Earth saucers shall not be installed in areas where the subsoil is very
poorly drained or around mass shrub / groundcover plantings.

C. All trees and shrubs to be hand watered on a regular basis as necessary during the warranty period.

3.13 SOIL MIX

A. Shall be per existing soils on site with recommended amendments from soils test.

3.14 STAKING OF TALL PLANTS

A. Shall be done only if site / environment conditions make if required.  If required, trees and palms shall be staked as indicated on the
plans.

3.15 MULCHING

A. All plants shall be mulched with an evenly thick layer of clean mulch immediately after planting.  Mass plant beds shall be
completely mulched to the limits of the bed as shown on the plans.  Limit of mulching for individual trees and shrubs shall be slightly
beyond the saucer berm.  The areas mulched shall be tidy and clean in appearance.

3.16 PRUNING

A. Remove dead, broken or bruised branches after planting using clean, sharp tools.

3.17 WEEDING

A. All planted areas shall be kept free from weeds and undesirable grasses until final acceptance by the Owner.  See General notes
on plans for additional information.

3.18 INSECT AND DISEASE CONTROL

A. All plant materials shall be disease or insect free upon arrival to the site, however, should any plants show signs of insect or disease
infestations, Contractor shall identify nature of infestation and submit to Landscape Architect a proposed method of control.
Contractor shall treat all infested plants at its expense.  Should the infestation be wide spread and uncontrollable, plants affected
shall be removed from site, fresh plants brought in and all other plants treated to prevent infestation of remaining plants at
Contractor's expense.

3.19 CLEAN UP

A. Contractor is responsible for removing all trash, debris, rubbish and all other materials associated with the construction from site on
a daily basis.  All tags, flags, and labels will be removed from plants and trees.  The site shall be left broom clean and tidy.  Clean up
of the site is a prerequisite to final acceptance by the Owner.

PART 4 - MAINTENANCE AND WARRANTY

4.1 MAINTENANCE

A. Protect all plantings (grass, plants and trees) until accepted by Owner. All damage, regardless of cause, shall be immediately
repaired and plants replaced if necessary. Erect temporary fences, barricades, signs and other protection as needed to prevent
trampling. Contractor is not responsible for replacement of damaged or missing plants and plant materials due to vandalism or
other acts beyond the control of the Contractor if proper barriers or other safeguards have been maintained.

B. Maintenance shall include but is not limited to watering, weeding, cultivating, removal of dead material, mulch reapplication,
resetting plants to proper grades or upright position, lawn mowing, fertilizing, and other necessary operations.

C. The Contractor shall repair immediately any areas damaged as a result of construction operations or erosion.

E. The Contractor shall maintain all proposed plantings until final acceptance is issued by the Owner.

F. At the end of the maintenance period, all plants shall be in a healthy growing condition. During the maintenance period, should
the appearance of any plant indicate weakness and probability of dying, immediately replace without additional cost to the
Owner. Replacements required because of vandalism or other causes beyond the control of the Contractor are not part of this
contract.

4.2 WARRANTY

A. All shrubs, ground cover, and trees shall be guaranteed by the Contractor to be alive and healthy for a one year period after
substantial completion is issued by the Owner. A final inspection with the Owner shall be conducted at the end of the warranty
period to determine if any plants will be required to be replaced.

B. Any lawn, plant, or tree which is dead or not showing satisfactory growth shall be replaced at Contractor's expense at the end of
warranty period.  All replacements shall be of original quality and of a size equal to adjacent plants or trees of the same kind.

END OF SECTION

P
E

R
M

IT
 S

E
T

 -
 F

O
R

 R
E

V
IE

W
 P

U
R

P
O

S
E

S
 O

N
LY

10/9/1712/12/23



January 30th, 2024

Jason O. Chambless, P.E.
Thomas & Hutton
50 Park of Commerce Way
Savannah, GA 31405

Dear Mr. Chambless,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Approval of the site development plans 
for 125 Coleman Blvd Building Expansion, which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Plan         Jan. 2023
Stormwater Management Report         Dec. 2023
Traffic Memo         Dec. 2023
GSWCC Approval Letter         Dec. 2023
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement         Dec. 2023

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans 
does not relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their 
individual or collective responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State 
and Federal Laws and Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City 
of Pooler. This review is not to be construed as a check of every item in the plans or 
construction. Failure of this office to note any conflict with said requirements does not relieve 
the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their 
project during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in 
accordance with the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that 
their designs are in compliance to all Federal, State, and City codes and regulations.  All required 
permits, documentation, and 3rd party approvals, pursuant to land disturbing activities and land 
development shall be provided and found acceptable to the City of Pooler. All the required 
testing data and related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or assigned 
representation, during and after the construction is complete.



To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the 
City of Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend 
Approval of the site development plans.

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Nicole Dixon; Director of Planning & Development – City of Pooler
Brian Crooks; City Planner - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, P.E.; Sr. Vice President – EOM



1 

PLANNING & ZONING STAFF REPORT 
Site Plan for Mana Nutrition at 5212 Old Louisville Rd 

Project: #231786 

P&Z Meeting Date: February 12, 2024 

City Council Meeting Date: March 4, 2024 

Applicant and Authorized Agent: Nick Skrobola (Applicant) / Coleman Company (Engineer) 

Location (Address): 5212 Old Louisville Rd 

Parcel (PIN): 50987 01041 

Acreage: 19.74 total – 0.43 disturbed 

Zoning: I-1 (Light Industrial)

Proposed Use: Food manufacturing (Up-fit of an existing warehouse) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval 

Planning & Zoning Commission: P&Z agreed with staff and recommends approval.

Recommended Motion: “After review of the criteria, move for approval of the request.” 

Zoning Action Standards: 1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive

Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans.

o The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and

policies of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan for the FLUM

designation and Character Area.

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and

traffic access.

ITEM 4.B



  

2 

o The site plan complies with the provisions for access and 

circulation; Sec. 11 of App. A, Art. V related to traffic 

impacts; and Sec. 2 of App. A, Art. III for traffic access. 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-

street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5 of 

App. A, Art. III for parking and loading standards. 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 

arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 

signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 

district(s). 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to 

development standards for industrial development, 

including setbacks, building separation, and height and 

Chapter 74, Art. VI for lighting. 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 

proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 

properties. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to the 

location of uses/development areas, development 

standards for industrial development, and buffer 

standards. 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 

water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure. 

o The site plan complies with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; 

Chapter 74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to 

servicing of utilities and infrastructure. 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by other public serves to account for current or projected 

needs. 

o The site is adequately served by any other public services 

for current or projected needs. 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 

adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 

other objectionable features. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions related to 

buffer and screening standards. 

9. Whether the site plan provides adequate landscaping, 

including type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 



  

3 

landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 

buffer between adjacent properties. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of Chapter 42, 

Art. VI for tree and landscaping requirements, in general, 

and related buffers. 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 

City of Pooler. 

o The site plan complies with the provisions of the City of 

Pooler Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, 

and all other applicable laws. 

   

Conclusion:  The site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria.  As such, staff 

recommends Approval of the request. 

   

Attachments:  A. Vicinity Map 

B. Application and Submittal Documentation 

C. Approval Letter 

   

 



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

5212 Old
Louisville Rd

02/22/2024

ATTACHMENT A





RIGHT
TURN
ONLY

WAREHOUSE #1

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

EXISTING
CONDTIONS

C2.0

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

ATTACHMENT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
SOUTH DETENTION POND: STATIC: 8.00' TOB: 14.00' BTM: 3.00' 1-YR: 9.22' 25-YR: 9.63' 100-YR: 9.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
WETLAND IMPACT USACE PERMIT NO: SAS-2020-00589

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
60FT FRONT YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
20FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
12.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
SCALE: 1"=25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
0'

CKnight
Architect

CKnight_1
Architect

CKnight_2
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.



RIGHT
TURN
ONLY

WAREHOUSE #1

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

DEMO PLANS

C2.1

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
SOUTH DETENTION POND: STATIC: 8.00' TOB: 14.00' BTM: 3.00' 1-YR: 9.22' 25-YR: 9.63' 100-YR: 9.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
WETLAND IMPACT USACE PERMIT NO: SAS-2020-00589

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 11,558 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
REMOVE EXISTING CURB AND GUTTER (APPROX. 182LF.) (SAWCUT EDGES)

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
DEMO REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED EMPLOYEE ENTRANCE.

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE WITH GEORGIA  POWER TO LOCATE THE TRANSFORMER PADS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 4,387 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
60FT FRONT YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
20FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
DEMO REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
DEMO REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
DEMO REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
12.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
SCALE: 1"=25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
0'

CKnight_3
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.

CKnight_4
Architect

CKnight_5
Architect

CKnight_6
Architect

CKnight_7
Architect



RIGHT
TURN
ONLY

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

ST5 ST4ST6ST8 ST7 ST3 ST2 ST1 ST3 ST2 ST1

UP

OPEN OFFICE FIRST FLOOR
121

PACKAGING RACKED

PACKAGING FLOOR

UTILITY AREA
TANK FARM

(CO2, N2)

EMPLOYEE WELFARE AREA
401

QA/TL OFFICE
404

MAINTENANCE
405

STORAGE
406

SANITATION
316

BREAKROOM
128

ELEVATOR

TRAINING
130

LOCKER ROOM
132

M
AP

 W
AL

L

OFFICE
122

OFFICE
123

OFFICE
125

ROASTING RTE
308

DRY MATERIAL HANDLING
307

MIXING
309

PROCESSING ROOM
312

QC LAB SPACE
314

QC OFFICE
313

SUPERVISER
311

SUPERVISOR
310

MCC
408

ROASTER ROOM
408

EXCHANGE
137

BO
O

T
VA

C
U

U
M

PEANUT RAW AREA
407

MAINTENANACE AND PARTS
RECEIVING

303

WAREHOUSE

SUGAR PULVERIZER ROOM
501

GUEST ENTRY
100

EMPLOYEE ENTRY AND
CORRIDOR

120

STORAGE
127

TANK FARM
301 DRY INGREDIENT

302

BULK BAG TRANSFER
304

DRUM TRANSFER
305

DRUM FILLING STATION
306

FUTURE PROCESSING AREA
317

PACKAGING
315

PACKAGING STORAGE
318

EXISTING ELECTRICAL
319

CLOCK IN AREA
& COMMUNITY
WALL HAIRNET STORAGE

C
LE

AN
ER

ST
O

R
AG

E

BO
O

T
VA

C
U

U
M

PALLETIZER LINE

WOMENS TOILET
133

MENS TOILET
135

EXTG  BREAKROOM
105

EXTG OPEN OFFICE
102

CIRCULATION SPACE

CI
RC

UL
AT

IO
N 

SP
AC

E

BULK TRUCK UNLOADING
502

SU
GA

R 
SI

LO
S

SKIN HOUSE
409

WAREHOUSE #1

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

STAKING PLANS

C3.0

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
SOUTH DETENTION POND: STATIC: 8.00' TOB: 14.00' BTM: 3.00' 1-YR: 9.22' 25-YR: 9.63' 100-YR: 9.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
WETLAND IMPACT USACE PERMIT NO: SAS-2020-00589

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
MEDIUM DUTY CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
18" CURB & GUTTER (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE WITH GEORGIA  POWER TO LOCATE THE TRANSFORMER PADS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
4" SLOPE PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
MEDIUM DUTY CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
MEDIUM DUTY CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
60FT FRONT YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
20FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
GOAL POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
HIGHWAY GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
GOAL POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
45° BEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
45° BEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
IE. 13.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
IE. 13.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
12.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
SCALE: 1"=25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
0'

CKnight_8
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.

CKnight_9
Architect

CKnight_10
Architect

CKnight_11
Architect

CKnight_12
Architect

CKnight_13
Architect

CKnight_14
Architect

CKnight_15
Architect

CKnight_16
Architect



RIGHT
TURN
ONLY

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

ST5 ST4ST6ST8 ST7 ST3 ST2 ST1 ST3 ST2 ST1

UP

OPEN OFFICE FIRST FLOOR
121

PACKAGING RACKED

PACKAGING FLOOR

UTILITY AREA
TANK FARM

(CO2, N2)

EMPLOYEE WELFARE AREA
401

QA/TL OFFICE
404

MAINTENANCE
405

STORAGE
406

SANITATION
316

BREAKROOM
128

ELEVATOR

TRAINING
130

LOCKER ROOM
132

M
AP

 W
AL

L

OFFICE
122

OFFICE
123

OFFICE
125

ROASTING RTE
308

DRY MATERIAL HANDLING
307

MIXING
309

PROCESSING ROOM
312

QC LAB SPACE
314

QC OFFICE
313

SUPERVISER
311

SUPERVISOR
310

MCC
408

ROASTER ROOM
408

EXCHANGE
137

BO
O

T
VA

C
U

U
M

PEANUT RAW AREA
407

MAINTENANACE AND PARTS
RECEIVING

303

WAREHOUSE

SUGAR PULVERIZER ROOM
501

GUEST ENTRY
100

EMPLOYEE ENTRY AND
CORRIDOR

120

STORAGE
127

TANK FARM
301 DRY INGREDIENT

302

BULK BAG TRANSFER
304

DRUM TRANSFER
305

DRUM FILLING STATION
306

FUTURE PROCESSING AREA
317

PACKAGING
315

PACKAGING STORAGE
318

EXISTING ELECTRICAL
319

CLOCK IN AREA
& COMMUNITY
WALL HAIRNET STORAGE

C
LE

AN
ER

ST
O

R
AG

E

BO
O

T
VA

C
U

U
M

PALLETIZER LINE

WOMENS TOILET
133

MENS TOILET
135

EXTG  BREAKROOM
105

EXTG OPEN OFFICE
102

CIRCULATION SPACE

CI
RC

UL
AT

IO
N 

SP
AC

E

BULK TRUCK UNLOADING
502

SU
GA

R 
SI

LO
S

SKIN HOUSE
409

WAREHOUSE #1

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

GRADING PLANS

C4.0

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
R5.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
(TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
SOUTH DETENTION POND: STATIC: 8.00' TOB: 14.00' BTM: 3.00' 1-YR: 9.22' 25-YR: 9.63' 100-YR: 9.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
WETLAND IMPACT USACE PERMIT NO: SAS-2020-00589

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 11,558 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE WITH GEORGIA  POWER TO LOCATE THE TRANSFORMER PADS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 4,387 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
60FT FRONT YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
20FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
45° BEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
45° BEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
IE. 13.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
IE. 13.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
FFE: 15.50 

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
FFE: 15.63 

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
12.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
SCALE: 1"=25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
ELEVATIONS TO BE VERIFIED IN THE FIELD.

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
INSET B

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
INSET A

CKnight_17
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.

CKnight_18
Architect

CKnight_19
Architect



UTILITY AREA
TANK FARM

(CO2, N2)

SUGAR PULVERIZER ROOM
501

TANK FARM
301 DRY INGREDIENT

BULK TRUCK UNLOADING
502

SU
GA

R 
SI

LO
S

WAREHOUSE #1

EM
PL

OY
EE

 W
EL

FA
RE

 A
RE

A
40

1

QA
/TL

 O
FF

IC
E

40
4

MA
IN

TE
NA

NC
E

40
5

ST
OR

AG
E

40
6

MAP WALL

MC
C

40
8

RO
AS

TE
R 

RO
OM

40
8

GU
ES

T E
NT

RY
10

0EX
TG

  B
RE

AK
RO

OM
10

5

EX
TG

 O
PE

N 
OF

FIC
E

10
2

SK
IN

 H
OU

SE
40

9

WAREHOUSE #1

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

GRADING PLAN
30X42 (1)

C4.1

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 11,558 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
SAWCUT EDGES OF EXISTING HEAVY-DUTY CONCRETE (APPROX. 4,387 SF)   

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
FFE: 15.50 

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
FFE: 15.63 

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
314,133 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
FFE: 19.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
20FT SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
SCALE: 1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
SCALE: 1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
INSET B

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
INSET A

CKnight_20
Architect

CKnight_21
Architect

CKnight_22
Architect

CKnight_23
Architect

CKnight_24
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.



LIGHT DUTY ASPHALT

PAVING LEGEND

MEDIUM DUTY ASPHALT

HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT

EXTRA HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT

LIGHT DUTY CONCRETE

MEDIUM DUTY CONCRETE

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE

EXTRA HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE

P-22
N.T.S.

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTION
Coleman Company, Inc.

P-21
N.T.S.

MEDIUM DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTION
Coleman Company, Inc.

LIGHT-DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT SECTION
Coleman Company, Inc.

P-11
N.T.S.

*NOTE*:  PAVEMENT SECTIONS, EXCLUDING THE HEAVY DUTY ASPHALT
PAVEMENT SECTION ARE BASED UPON SOILS REPORT ES205205 BY TERRACON.

HEAVY-DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT  SECTION
Coleman Company, Inc.

P-14
N.T.S.

© 
 C

 o 
p y

 r i
 g 

h t
   2

 0 
2 3

    
J o

 h 
n  

 N
 .  

 K
 o 

u r
 y 

,   
A 

r c
 h 

i t 
e c

 t  
 a 

l l 
  r 

i g
 h 

t s
   r

 e 
s e

 r v
 e 

d  
 J 

O 
H 

N 
 K

 O
 U

 R
 Y

  A
 R

 C
 H

 I T
 E

 C
 T 

 P
 . L

 . L
 . C

 .  
5 3

 9 
 M

 A
 M

 O
 T 

H 
 O

 A
 K

 S
  C

 H
 A

 R
 L 

O 
T T

 E
 ,  

N 
C 

 2 
8 2

 7 
0

ISSUED: 12.20.2023

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT PHASE:FOR PERMIT

S
a

v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

Project Issue Date: 01.31.2024

CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C8.0

LO
C

A
TE

D
 IN

 P
O

O
LE

R,
 G

EO
RG

IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

M
A

N
A

 N
UT

RI
TIO

N

M
AN

A 
NU

TR
ITIO

N 
- P

RO
JE

CT
 HY

PE
RD

RIV
E

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

DOUGLAS FAIRCLOTH, PE
042072
27405

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
SUITABLE SUBGRADE  MATERIAL COMPACTED  TO 95% MODIFIED PROCTOR DENSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
4,000 P.S.I. CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
CRUSHED STONE UNDERLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
SUITABLE SUBGRADE  MATERIAL COMPACTED  TO 95% MODIFIED PROCTOR DENSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
4,000 P.S.I. CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
CRUSHED STONE UNDERLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
NOTES: 1. BITUMINOUS PRIME AND TACK COATS WILL BE APPLIED AS LISTED  BELOW,           A.   PRIME COAT SHALL BE APPLIED AT A RATE OF 0.25 GALLON PER SQUARE                 YARD TO THE SURFACE OF ALL GRANITE BASE COURSES.           B.   TACK COAT SHALL BE APPLIED AT AT RATE OF 0.05 GALLONS PER SQUARE                 YARD TO THE SURFACE OF THE BINDER COURSE BEFORE PLACEMENT OF                 SURFACE COURSE.

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
STANDARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
SUBGRADE COARSE GRAINED SOIL COMPACTED TO 100% STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
BASE COURSE GRADED AGGREGATE CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
SURFACE COURSE (GA. D.O.T. 12.5 MM SUPERPAVE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
HEAVY DUTY

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
NOTES: 1. BITUMINOUS PRIME AND TACK COATS WILL BE APPLIED AS LISTED  BELOW,           A.   PRIME COAT SHALL BE APPLIED AT A RATE OF 0.25 GALLON PER SQUARE                 YARD TO THE SURFACE OF ALL GRANITE BASE COURSES.           B.   TACK COAT SHALL BE APPLIED AT AT RATE OF 0.05 GALLONS PER SQUARE                 YARD TO THE SURFACE OF THE BINDER COURSE BEFORE PLACEMENT OF                 SURFACE COURSE. 2. REFER TO PAVING PLAN FOR LOCATION OF STANDARD AND HEAVY DUTY PAVEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
SUBGRADE COARSE GRAINED SOIL COMPACTED TO 100% STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
BASE COURSE GRADED AGGREGATE CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
BINDER COURSE (GA. D.O.T. 19 MM SUPERPAVE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
SURFACE COURSE (GA. D.O.T. 12.5 MM SUPERPAVE) OR (GA. D.O.T. 9.5 MM TYPE II SUPERPAVE)

CKnight_25
Architect

CKnight_26
Architect

CKnight_27
Architect

CKnight_28
Architect

CKnight_29
Text Box
01 01-31-24 CIVIL PLAN COMMENT REV.



February 16th, 2024

Douglas L Faircloth, P.E.
Coleman Company
1480 Chatham Pkwy
Savannah, GA 31405

Dear Mr. Faircloth,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Approval of the site development plans 
for Mana Nutrition, which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Development Plans Feb. 2024
Lift Station Report  Feb. 2024
Product Information  Feb. 2024

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans 
does not relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their 
individual or collective responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State 
and Federal Laws and Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City 
of Pooler. This review is not to be construed as a check of every item in the plans or 
construction. Failure of this office to note any conflict with said requirements does not relieve 
the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their 
project during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in 
accordance with the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that 
their designs are in compliance to all Federal, State, and City codes and regulations.  All required 
permits and approvals, pursuant to land disturbing activities and land development shall be 
provided and found acceptable to the City of Pooler. All the required testing data, plans and 
related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or assigned representation, during and 
after the construction is complete.

ATTACHMENT C



To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the 
City of Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend 
Approval of the site development plans.

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Nicole Dixon; Director of Development Services – City of Pooler
Brian Crooks; City Planner - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, P.E.; Sr. Vice President – EOM


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of February 20, 2024
	6A_City Council Meeting_2024-02-20_Minutes_draft

	B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of February
	City Council Meeting_2024-02-20_Executive Session Affidavit_executed

	C. New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Mod
	6C_New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Modish Nails & Spa at 111 South Godley Station

	D. New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Sap
	6D_New Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Sapporo Japanese Restaurant, LLC at 120 Towne C

	E. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for 
	6E_Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Coastal Boating Center Boat Show on M

	F. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for 
	6F_Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Community Car Show Benefit for Jeremy Ba

	G. Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for 
	6G_Special Event Permit Application (No Alcohol) for the Super Duper Easter Egg Hunt on March 23,


	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Ordinance O2024-02.B – Zoning Text Amendment to Ap
	7A_Ordinance O2024-02.B_Multi-Use Development_draft

	B. Proclamation for National Multiple Sclerosis Educa
	7B_Proclamation_2024-03-04_National MS Education & Awareness Month


	VIII. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Site Plan for a Warehouse Expansion at 125 Coleman
	8A_Site Plan for a Warehouse Expansion at 125 Coleman Boulevard

	B. Site Plan for Mana Nutrition at 5212 Old Louisvill
	8B_Site Plan for Mana Nutrition at 5212 Old Louisville Road


	IX. PUBLIC COMMENT
	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT



